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A. Introduction 
The Algonquin Enrolment Board and Algonquin Tribunal were established by an ANR Special 
Resolution of April 20, 2021 (Motion 20210420-01). The purpose of the Board and Tribunal is to 
consider appeals and protests resulting from Stage 1 of Enrolment under the Proposed 
Beneficiary Criteria (PBC). The establishment of the Board and Tribunal had been anticipated by 
an ANR Special Resolution of January 22, 2020 (Motion 20200122-01) which set out the details 
and process for enrolment under the PBC.  
 
By way of a motion made on June 16, 2022, the ANRs referred certain historic persons that are 
on the Schedule of Algonquin Ancestors to the Algonquin Tribunal for the purposes of 
determining whether such historic persons are identified in a historic record or document dated 
on or before December 31, 1921, in such a way that it would be reasonable to conclude that 
the person was considered to be an Algonquin or Nipissing, or a sibling of such a person. A 
“sibling of such a person” means a person with a common Algonquin parent. These references 
were made pursuant to section 76(d) of the ANR Special Resolution of April 20, 2021 (Motion 
20210420-01). 
 
“Algonquin Ancestor” is defined in Article 1 of the Special Resolution of January 22, 2020 and 
referenced in the Special Resolution of April 20, 2021, as follows: 

“Algonquin Ancestor” means a person who was born on or before July 15, 1897 
and identified in an historic record or document dated on or before December 
31, 1921, in such a way that it would be reasonable to conclude that the person 
was considered to be an Algonquin or Nipissing, or a sibling of such a person, and 
includes the persons listed in the schedule of Algonquin Ancestors, as amended 
by the Algonquin Negotiation Representatives from time to time and which may 
be viewed at the Algonquins of Ontario Consultation Office and Algonquin 
community offices. In this definition, a sibling of a person is a person with a 
common Algonquin parent” [emphasis added]  

Hannah Mannell is one of the 14 ancestors referred to the Tribunal for review. This report 
provides information held in the Enrolment Office regarding Hannah Mannell. 

B. Methodology and organization of report 
This report is based on written documents in the possession of the Enrolment Office at the time 
of writing. The information contained in these documents is outlined in Sections C to F. The 
source of the information is footnoted by an ALG document number. ALG document numbers 
are randomly assigned numbers for primary documents held in the Enrolment Office database. 
The cited documents are listed and their images appended to this report as described below. 
 
Note that certain historic people referred to in this report are also identified by a “RIN #”. A 
“RIN #” is a randomly generated number assigned by the Legacy Genealogical database to each 
individual person entered in that database. Individuals referenced in this report including 
historic persons that have been identified as Algonquin Ancestors, persons descended from 
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these ancestors, and various non-Algonquin people who are married to Algonquins have RIN #s. 
RIN #s also appear in the Schedule of Algonquin Ancestors. The use of a RIN # is not indicative 
of whether a historic person is, or is not, an Algonquin Ancestor, as defined above, or is 
otherwise suspected of being Algonquin. It merely means that the historic person has been 
entered into the Legacy Genealogical database. RIN #s are used to assist in the identification 
and tracing of family trees and are particularly useful when a historic person may be identified 
by different names or spelling conventions or when several individuals have the same or similar 
name. 
 
Appendix 1 is a genealogical chart, also known as a family tree, illustrating the descendancy 
relationships between the subject ancestor, her parents, her spouse, and one generation of 
their descendants (i.e., the children of the subject ancestor and her spouse). It is recommended 
that you consult this chart when reading the report as it assists in understanding the different 
individuals. It can be printed out for ease of reference. 
 
Appendix 2 is a timeline identifying the major life events for this ancestor that are recorded in 
the documents appended to Appendix 5. The table is organized chronologically by date of event 
and specifies the type of event, location of event, notes on individuals involved, tribal origin, 
and the ALG document number of the source (archival) document. Note that some events 
included in Appendix 2 may not be fully described in this report but are provided for additional 
context. 
 
Appendix 3 is a brief outline of the activities and travels of Hannah Mannell’s father, John 
Mannell in the years immediately prior and after her birth.  
 
Appendix 4 is a list of supporting documents relevant to the ancestor. The table is organized by 
ALG document number and specifies the date of the document, a brief document description, 
and the archival source of the document.  
 
Appendix 5 is a package of supporting documents cited in this report. These are images of the 
actual documents. They are organized by ALG document number and thus appear in the same 
order as the list in Appendix 4. The images are bookmarked for ease of reference. The original 
archival source of the document, where available, is stamped on the document image as well as 
being included in the table in Appendix 4.  

C. Name variations 
Hannah Mannell’s surname was commonly spelled as Mannall, Mannal, or Mannel. Her married 
name was Thomas. These spelling anomalies commonly occurred in historic documents where 
individuals who created written records at the time of events used phonetic spellings to record 
names as they understood them. In addition, when handwritten records were transcribed, 
recorders often guessed at the spelling of a name, adding to the confusion. Further 
complications arise because individuals frequently changed their names throughout their life 
time. These anomalies can make it difficult to determine if records are referencing the same 
individual. 
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D. Original basis for including Hannah Mannell on the Schedule of Algonquin Ancestors 
The name of Hannah Mannell was originally placed on the Schedule of Ancestors pursuant to a 
Board decision of September 9, 2001 that recognized Hannah Mannell and her husband Charles 
Thomas. In 2010, a protest was filed against Hannah Mannell and the mother of Charles 
Thomas. The protest was heard by a Board of the Enrolment Review Committee in the fall of 
2010. Interested Algonquins attended hearings and presented material in support of the 
protest and opposing the protest. The protest was dismissed because it was determined that 
the applicants were properly enrolled at the time based on the decision of the 2001 Board and 
were not protested at that time according to the provisions then in place. However, the Board 
found that on the balance of probabilities the ancestors were Cree not Algonquin and placed a 
moratorium on further enrolments of applicants who relied on descent from the 
Thomas/Mannell ancestors. The Board further recommended that the ANRs determine how to 
effectively administer this issue in order to achieve an accurate list of Algonquins based on 
common criteria. The ANRs responded by removing Hannah Mannell, her husband Charles 
Thomas, his mother Margaret Thomas, and his siblings, Eleanor Thomas Foy and Charlotte 
Thomas Spence, from the Schedule of Ancestors. 
 
In 2012 several descendants of Hannah Mannell applied to have Hannah Mannell added to the 
Schedule of Algonquin Ancestors under Paragraph 8 of the "Protocol For Consideration Of 
Potential Additions To Schedule Of Algonquin Ancestors", in place at that time. Their 
application was referred to Justice Chadwick who presided over a hearing in February 2013. By 
Justice Chadwick’s decision Hannah Mannell’s name was added to the Schedule of Algonquin 
Ancestors.  
 
This report contains the results of further research on Hannah Mannell, as well as a review of 
the original applicant’s application, and documents submitted and reviewed during the protests 
and appeals.  

E. Documents related to Hannah Mannell and what they purport to say 

E.1 Comments on place names 
Certain records related to Hannah Mannell’s father, John Mannell, her husband Charles Thomas 
(aka Charles Thomas Sr.), and Charles’ father John Thomas working at, living at, or otherwise 
being associated with several fur trade posts in what is now northeastern Ontario. These posts 
were located on tributaries of the Moose River drainage system. The Moose River drains into 
James Bay. An important Hudson’s Bay Company (HBC) fur trade post known as Moose Factory 
or Moose Fort was located near the mouth of the Moose River on James Bay. 
 
A map published in Historical Atlas of Canada shows the location of HBC posts of interest 
including: Moose Fort, Frederick House, and Keenogumusee Lake, all of which are located on 
tributaries of the Moose River. The Moose River drains into James Bay at Moose Fort.1 These 
posts were within the HBC’s Kinogumissee (various spellings) or Moose fur trade districts at 

 
1 ALG-40170 
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various times. Traders working in these posts often travelled back and forth to Moose Factory 
via the Moose River system. This area was within Rupert’s Land until 1870 when the HBC sold 
its charter to Canada and it became known as the North-West Territories.  
 
An HBC sketch map dating from 1789-1790 shows Frederick House as being overseen by John 
Mannell. The same sketch shows the geographic relationship between Frederick House, New 
Brunswick House, Lake Abitibi, and Moose Fort.2 
 
A map entitled “Native Peoples 1823” produced by the National Atlas of Canada, 5th Edition 
marks the location of various groups several decades after the birth of Hannah Mannell. The 
locations are numbered with a prefix denoting language group – “Cr” for Cree, “Al” for 
Algonquin, and “Oj” for Ojibwe. This source shows that the closest Algonquin communities are 
at Lake Temiskaming (Al5) and Lake Abitibi (Al6). Moose Factory (Cr25) is shown as Cree as are 
the other posts circling James Bay and Hudson Bay. Ojibwa dominate the rest of the adjacent 
country including Matawagamingue (Oj35) located just south of Kenogamissi Lake, New 
Brunswick House (Oj 33), and Flying Post (Oj34) west of Kenogamissi Lake. Frederick House is 
not shown on this map; it lies north and slightly east of Matawagamingue on a tributary of the 
Moose River. Lake Abitibi is to the east.3 HBC post records discussed below show that traders 
traveled from Lake Abitibi to Frederick House with some effort. Although they were about 55 
kilometers apart as the crow flies, they are located on different tributaries and there was no 
direct water connection between them.  
 
A modern map of the area published in The Indigenous Peoples Atlas of Canada on pages 22 
and 23 shows the area as being the territory of the Moose Cree and Swampy Cree groups with 
Lake Abitibi depicted at the far western edge of Algonquin territory.4 This map does not specify 
the time period in which the territory was occupied by the named groups. 

E.2 Hannah Mannell 
Hannah Mannell (RIN #18786) was the daughter of an unnamed Indigenous woman (RIN 
#18788) and John Mannell (aka John Mannall, RIN #18787), an English employee of the HBC 
stationed at Moose Factory (aka Moose Fort). Hannah married Charles Thomas (aka Charles 
Thomas Sr., RIN #18785), the son of John Thomas (aka John Thomas Sr., RIN #18783), the 
English HBC trader at Moose Factory, and his Indigenous wife Margaret (RIN #18784).  
 
• The earliest known document relating to Hannah Mannell was a record of her father’s 

declaration of his children. The record is undated and appears in a manuscript entitled 
“Register of Moose Factory and its Dependancies.” In this record, John “Mannall” declares 
that he has two children, Hannah (RIN #18786) and Mary (RIN #18789). Hannah’s date of 
birth is given as August 1795 at “Kenooguonesee.” Her date of christening and place of 
residence were left blank. Her mother was not referred to or named. Hannah’s sister Mary 

 
2 ALG-40221 3 ALG-40175 4 ALG-40171 
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was noted as being born at Moose Factory in October 1797. Her date of christening and 
place of residence were left blank. Her mother was not referred to or named.5  

 
o An earlier entry on this page has a christening date of January 1805, so the 

entries for the Mannell daughters were made after that date. 
 

o The birth dates of Hannah (August 1795) and her younger sister Mary (October 
1797) suggest that they were conceived around December 1794 and February 
1797, respectively. 

 
o On the same page of the Moose Factory register five HBC servants declared and 

recorded their children. The fathers (Thomas Richard, Thomas Knight, George 
Moore, John Mannall, and Thomas Thomas) are named, as are their children. All 
of the children were born at various HBC posts in Rupert’s Land. No women are 
identified or named as the mothers of these children. At the time, the HBC did 
not encourage unions between HBC men and Indigenous women, consequently 
the Indigenous mothers were rarely named in records from this period. 
 

o The family of Thomas Thomas noted on this record is not known to be part of 
the extended family of the John Thomas, the father of Hannah’s husband Charles 
Thomas.  

 
Before considering the evidence regarding Hannah Mannell’s marriage and later life, it is useful 
to examine records related to her father John Mannell to determine where Hannah and Mary 
were conceived and born in order to further understand the probable identity and ethnic 
origins of their Indigenous mother. 

E.3 John Mannell, father of Hannah Mannell 
John Mannell (RIN #18787), the father of Hannah Mannell, served with the HBC. A biographical 
sheet that provides a summary of his career was generated by the Hudson’s Bay Archivist based 
on HBC records. This biographical sheet provided an outline of the locations and dates of 
Mannell’s service, as follows:6  

• Born in Suffolk England; 
• Arrived at Moose Factory/Fort in 1786;  
• Stationed at Moose Fort, 1786 to 1788 as a writer (clerk); 
• Stationed at Brunswick House, 1788-92 as a writer (clerk);  
• Stationed at Frederick House, 1792-95 as a writer & master, then as master (the man in 

charge of a post); 
• Established Kenogamissi Post, 1795-97 as master. A detailed reading of the post journals 

shows that he arrived at Kenogamissi Lake in July 1794 and remained there while the 
new post was built and became established [see Appendix 3 for details]. 

 
5 ALG-40222 6 ALG-40230 
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• He returned to England for a visit from September 1797 to May 1798. His family 
remained behind at Moose Fort. As noted above, Mary was born at Moose Factory in 
October 1797, the month after he set sail. 
 

• Upon his return from England, John Mannell worked at Kenogamissi Lake and other 
locations in the Moose District and the Eastmain District (which was is located farther 
north on the east side of James Bay) until he retired in 1814. 
 

o “Mrs. Mannall” was noted in the Moose Factory diary of July 8, 1808 as helping 
to provision the post along with the wife and daughters of John Thomas.7 The 
wife of John Thomas was a woman named Margaret. Margaret and John were 
the parents of Charles Thomas (RIN #18785), with whom Hannah Mannell had 
formed a union by 1811, their first known child being born in October 1812. This 
notation indicates that the mothers of Charles and Hannah were known to each 
other prior to the union of their children. 

 
o The HBC biographical record also showed that John Mannell had a wife in 

England with whom he had eight children. It appears that these children were 
born after he retired from HBC service. In 1837 his English wife Cordelia 
requested assistance for the family and a placement with the HBC for two sons 
aged 16 and 13. These sons would have been born around 1821 and 1824, after 
John’s retirement and return to England.8  

 
At that time, an HBC “writer” fulfilled the functions of what is best characterized as a clerk 
keeping records of transactions and other relevant events related to commerce at the post. A 
“master” was the man in charge of a post. A detailed review of the Frederick House and 
Kenogamissi post records from the spring of 1792 to the summer of 1797 indicate that while 
working at both posts John Mannell made regular short trading trips inland and longer annual 
trips to Moose Factory. For example: he was inland on short trading trips for two weeks in June 
1793, from April to May in 1794 and in 1796. He made extended summer trips to Moose Fort 
from June 27 to October 1793, from June 15 to 30, 1794, and from June 11 to October 12 in 
1796. In July 1797 Mannell left Kenogamissi and travelled to Moose Factory, remaining there 
until September 1797 from whence he returned to England for an eight-month leave. 
 
As noted above, Hannah was conceived around December 1794, which makes the relevant 
period for John forming a union with her Indigenous mother sometime prior to that date. John 
Mannell was at Brunswick House (to 1792) and Frederick House (1792-1794), followed by over 
two years at Kenogamissi Lake, from July 1794 to September 1797. These dates show that John 
Mannell was at the new Kenogamissi post for four to five months prior to Hannah’s conception. 
Immediately prior to that time he was at Frederick House and Brunswick House before that. As 
noted above, while stationed at these posts he also had brief trips inland to trade with local 
trappers as well as longer summer trips to Moose Factory. 

 
7 ALG-40231 8 ALG-40230 
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These facts suggest but do not prove that Hannah Mannell’s mother was most likely from the 
area around Kenogamissi Lake, Frederick House or Brunswick House. It is also possible that she 
was from around Moose Fort, as John travelled back and forth to Moose Fort as part of his HBC 
duties. The maps cited in sub-section E.1, above, indicated that these locations were in Cree or 
Ojibwe territory.9 
 
As noted above, Hannah’s sister Mary was born in October 1797,10 therefore she would have 
been conceived around February 1797. John Mannell was at Kenogamissi House at the time of 
her conception. Therefore, assuming that the sisters had the same mother, Hannah’s mother 
would have been with John Mannell at Kenogamissi House along with the toddler Hannah. 
 
No further information has been found regarding Hannah’s mother or her sister Mary. 

E.4 Hannah Mannell, marriage and places of residence  
Hannah Mannell formed a union or “country marriage” with Charles Thomas (RIN #18785) the 
son of Margaret, an Indigenous woman, and John Thomas (RIN #18783), the English HBC trader 
at Moose Factory. Hannah and Charles later moved to Vaudreuil County with their first child. 
Hannah and Charles were then posted to HBC locations in western Canada before returning to 
the Montreal area where they were formally married and their existing children legitimized and 
baptized. After a few years working in the Montreal Department for the HBC, Hannah and 
Charles relocated to Golden Lake. They were at Golden Lake by 1834. This sub-section lays out 
the evidence related to Hannah’s married life. 
 
Records pertaining to Hannah’s father-in-law, John Thomas, provide information on the early 
years of Hannah’s married life and migration to the Montreal area.  
 

• The HBC service record of John Thomas, the father of Hannah Mannell’s husband 
Charles, noted that the Thomas family left en-masse from Moose Factory in June 1814, 
settling in Vaudreuil County, Quebec. This extended family group included son Charles 
with his wife and a child.11  
 

o Hannah would have been around 18 with one child when she moved to 
Vaudreuil with her husband Charles and his natal family. 
 

o Vaudreuil County is just west of Montreal Island on the triangle of land bordered 
by the St. Lawrence River, the Ottawa River, and the present-day boundary of 
Ontario. 
 

• The HBC record for Hannah’s husband Charles Thomas noted that Charles was born in 
the Hudson Bay area in 1793 and began working for the HBC in 1808. He left the service 
on June 22, 1814, the same time as his father. He later rejoined the HBC and served in 

 
9 ALG-40175, ALG-40171 10 ALG-40230 11 ALG-40224 
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several western locations including Athabasca, Cumberland House and Peace River 
(modern-day Saskatchewan) from 1817 to 1822. In 1822 he moved to eastern Canada 
and served in the HBC’s Montreal Department at posts such as Lake of Two Mountains 
and Chats. He retired around 1832.12  
 

o Hannah and her young children went with Charles out west where she gave birth 
to more children, including their sons William and Edward.13  

 
• Hannah and Charles married on February 16, 1824 at St. James Anglican Church at 

Hudson Heights, Vaudreuil while Charles was in service with the HBC in the Montreal 
Department. Hannah was described as the daughter of “John Mannall of Ipswich, 
Suffolk, England” who had been the Factor (officer in charge) at the HBC post at Moose 
Fort. Her mother was not named. Charles Thomas was described as a “Yeoman” from 
Vaudreuil.14  
 

o Hannah and five of their children (born 1812 to 1822) were also baptized. 
Hannah’s baptism gives her date of birth as August 31, 1795 and she was again 
noted as being the daughter of “John Mannall.” 
 

o The birth dates of the five children listed as being baptized on the same date 
indicate that Hannah and Charles formed their union while he was posted at 
Moose Factory, prior to their move to Canada in June 1814 and continued 
through their postings in western Canada:  

 
 Elizabeth: October 2, 1812 
 Charles (aka Charles Thomas Jr.): May 1, 1815 
 John: August 10, 1817 
 Edward: November 18, 1819 
 William: February 15, 1822 

 
o Six additional children of Hannah and Charles Thomas were also named on the 

same document. The two youngest were born at Golden Lake.  
 

 Margaret: November 10, 1824; baptized January 19, 1825 
 Thomas: June 24, 1827 
 Hannah: June 6, 1830 
 Frances Ann: July 23, 1832 
 Alexander Christie: November 9, 1834 at Golden Lake, Ontario 
 Richard Story: June 14, 1838 at Golden Lake, Ontario 
 

o Charles Thomas was described as a “Merchant of Vaudreuil” and a “Farmer of 
Vaudreuil” on the records of his children Margaret and Thomas, respectively.  

 
12 ALG-40225 13 ALG-40226, ALG-40227 14 ALG-14788 
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• By 1832 Charles Thomas had established an HBC post at Golden Lake before retiring 

from the company.15 
 

o As noted above, Hannah gave birth to her last two children at Golden Lake, with 
a secondary source specifically noting the birth of her son Alexander Christie as 
being the “first white child to be born at Golden Lake.”16  

 
• Hannah was enumerated on the 1861 census at Renfrew, Algona County, living with her 

husband Charles, and their son Richard and his family. Hannah was noted as being born 
in North America, along with Charles, whose occupation was noted as “farmer.” The 
family was listed as belonging to the Church of England. Their home was said to be have 
been built in 1833. No one in the family was enumerated as “Coloured Persons, Mulatto 
or Indian,” which was the only origin question on the 1861 census.17  
 

• A family bible18, reportedly given to Charles Thomas by the Perth Bible Society,19 notes 
the names, dates of birth, and dates of death of the Thomas family members. Hannah’s 
date of death was noted as being the April 6, 1868.20 No civil death record has been 
located for her death.  

E.4 Charles Thomas, husband of Hannah Mannell 
Hannah Mannell’s husband Charles Thomas was the son of an English HBC Fur Trader, John 
Thomas, and an Indigenous woman named Margaret.21 Charles was born on September 9, 1793 
at Moose Factory while his father was Chief Factor for the Moose District. He was baptized at 
St. Benedict’s Church, Fenchurch Street, London in December 1800 with his father present.22 
Note that the service record of John Thomas Sr. indicated that he was in England on leave from 
1800 to 1801, which would be consistent with his presence at Charles’ baptism.23 

 
• Charles joined the service of the HBC as a writer (clerk) at Moose in 1808, remaining in 

the Moose District area until 1814, when he joined his father and extended family in 
leaving the Moose District for Vaudreuil, Quebec. Charles was noted a having a wife and 
a child at the time of the move.24  
 

o Charles’s father, John Thomas, was succeeded as Chief Factor at Moose District 
by John Mannell, Hannah’s father, around 1813. Given that both families were 
living at Moose Factory at the same time period, it is understandable that Charles 
and Hannah came to be known to each other.  
 

 
15 ALG-40226 
16 ALG-40226 
17 ALG-40223 
18 ALG-14709 

19 ALG-40226 
20 ALG-14709 
21 ALG-40224 
22 ALG-28398 

23 ALG-40224 
24 ALG-40225, ALG-40224 
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• Charles’ HBC service record notes that he rejoined the company around 1815 and was 
sent out west, serving in Athabasca, Cumberland and the Peace River Districts (modern-
day Alberta and Saskatchewan) from 1815 to 1822.25 Charles and Hannah had four more 
children during this period.  
 

• Charles then served in the Montreal Department from 1822 to 1831, before retiring in 
1832. As noted above, Charles and Hannah were officially married and their children 
legitimized in 1824 while he was working in the Montreal Department for the HBC. 
 

• The 1825 census for Vaudreuil County, Lower Canada (Quebec) lists a Charles Thomas 
living with another couple, a total of 17 people in the household.26 The names of the 
individuals living in the household were not listed and no other identifiers, such as 
ethnicity or religion, were given on this census. It is worth noting that the Thomas family 
were not enumerated with the Algonquin or Nipissing Villages at the Lake of Two 
Mountains mission which was a separate and distinct census return.27 
 

Other secondary sources flesh out the period between Charles moving to the Golden Lake area 
and officially retiring from the Hudson’s Bay Company.  

 
• An excerpt from the book Pioneer Reminiscences of The Upper Ottawa Valley notes that 

Charles was sent specifically to Golden Lake to establish an HBC post on the Bonnechere 
River.28 Charles biographical service record with the HBC does not make any reference to 
him establishing a post at Golden Lake. The last post noted in his record is Lake of Two 
Mountains to 1831. 

 
o The same source also noted that Charles Thomas strived to “win favour with the 

Indians as he began trading for their furs.”  
 

• A newspaper article from the Ottawa Citizen written in 1925 states that Charles Thomas and 
his family were considered the “early settlers of Bonnechere country.”29 

 
• Hannah Mannell, her husband Charles Thomas and their children were established at 

Golden Lake by 1834. In the late winter of 1834 Chief Makwa complained about Charles 
Thomas hunting and trapping on his hunting grounds.30 The chief made his concerns known 
to the Indian Department interpreter at Lake of Two Mountains, who so informed the 
Indian Affairs officer at Montreal, James Hughes. Hughes referred Chief Makwa’s complaint 
to the Secretary of Indian Affairs at Quebec. Hughes summarized the issue: 

  
… I have the honor to transmit a letter which I received a few days ago from Mr. 
Dominique Ducharme an Interpreter of the Indian Dept. stationed at the Lake of the Two 

 
25 ALG-40225 
26 ALG-40251 
27 ALG-40054 

28 ALG-40226 
29 ALG-40234 

30 ALG-90195, ALG-90196, ALG-
90167 
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Mountains – It appears by this (as I also have been informed from another quarter that 
one Macwa, a respectable and good Nipissingue chief – complains much of one Charles 
Thomas (formerly a clerk in the employ of the Hon.ble Hudson’s Bay Company but now 
turned a free hunter) who has a family of four or five stout sons; has taken possession of 
part of his hunting grounds (as for __ and destroyed a quantity of furrs [sic] such as 
Beaver, Muskrats & otters, they having in their possession no less than about sixty steel 
traps. – This Poor Indian (Macwa has several times given notice to Charles Thomas – to 
retire and quit his lands or hunting grounds and not rob him of his property as he does. 
That the lands were his, and, all that he had to depend upon for his livelihood and to 
cloath his family, were the furrs, Peltries he was in a manner nursing on those lands But 
all this had no effect on the said Charles Thomas who still persists in hunting and 
moreover says he means to squat down there and take to himself a Farm – Macwa as 
well as the others of his Tribe Beg and Prey of me to represent this act of Injustice to 
their Father at Quebec and hope that he may take Pity on his poor red Children and give 
such orders and commands that the said Chs Thomas and family may be made to quit 
these lands - and their Good Father will also Prohibit all White Hunters and other 
Interlopers, from trespassing on their hunting Grounds in any manner whatsoever and 
His red children the Algonquins and nipissingues will as in duty Bound ever pray for their 
Good Father.31 

 
o Chief Makwa was Jean Baptiste Otiskwekijik dit Makwa (aka Jean Baptiste 

Otiskwekijik, RIN #7277), a Nipissing Chief whose name was listed on the 1833 
petition requesting land for the Algonquin and Nipissing people.32 His name is listed 
on the Schedule of Algonquin Ancestors. In the above cited letter, Hughes described 
his land as being on the Bonnechere River. 
 

o A survey plan of the Bonnechere River made in 1848 shows “MaQua’s” House and 
Thomas Point. Five unidentified buildings were marked just west of Makwa’s along 
the shore; four buildings were shown on Thomas Point. The plan also shows the old 
HBC trading post, Thomas Point, and “Indian settlement” on Golden Lake.33 

 
• As noted above, Charles Thomas was enumerated on the 1861 census for the Township of 

Algona, Renfrew County, living with his wife Hannah, and their son Richard with his family. 
Charles was noted as having been born in North America, however no racial origin was given 
for him, and neither he nor his family members were noted as “Coloured Persons, Mulatto 
or Indian,” which was the only ethnic origin question on the 1861 census. The family was 
listed as belonging to the Church of England. Their home was said to be have been built in 
1833.34  
 

• The 1871 census for Algona in North Renfrew lists Charles as being a 77-year-old widower 
living with his son Edward and his family. Charles was recorded as having been born in 

 
31 ALG-90196 
32 ALG-90191, ALG-40271 

33 ALG-50575 
34 ALG-40223 
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Ontario, belonging to the Church of England and English in origin. This household was 
enumerated next to another son, William. Both Edward and William were noted as being 
English in origin.35  
 

• No death record has been located for Charles, and his death was not recorded in the family 
bible in which his wife Hannah’s death date was recorded.  

 
Charles Thomas was born at Moose Factory to an English Fur Trader and an Indigenous woman 
named Margaret. Similar to the case of his wife Hannah, no documentation has been located 
that specifically notes the tribal origins of his mother. Both Charles and Hannah were born in 
the HBC’s Moose District in the 1790s. The family is said to have settled at Golden Lake by 1832, 
but clearly by 1833. While they were both of Indigenous descent on their mother’s side, no 
documentary evidence has been located that indicates they identified as Indigenous or were 
Algonquin.  

E.5 Children of Hannah Mannell and Charles Thomas 
Very few documents exist relating directly to Hannah Mannell. Consequently, her children with 
Charles Thomas were researched and reviewed in order to ascertain if they provided any 
further evidence of her Indigenous heritage.  
 
Death Records of the Thomas Children 
 

Name Date of Death Place of Birth Origin Doc No. 
Elizabeth Thomas December 20, 1892 Hudson Bay Not given ALG-40248 
Charles Thomas (Jr.) March 22, 1865 - - ALG-14709 
John Thomas November 25, 1839 - - ALG-14709 
Edward Thomas Before 1901 - - - 
William Thomas Before 1891; wife identified 

as a widow on census. 
- - ALG-40259 

Margaret Thomas March 9, 1899 Not given Not given ALG-40253 
Thomas Thomas November 8, 1911 Vaudreuil, Quebec Not given ALG-40250 
Hannah Thomas May 16, 1863 - - ALG-14709 
Frances Ann Thomas Before 1911; husband 

identified as a widower on 
census. 

- - ALG-40257 

Alexander Christie 
Thomas 

September 23, 1907 Golden Lake, Renfrew Not given ALG-40249 

Richard Story 
Thomas 

June 19, 1902 Golden Lake, Renfrew Not given ALG-29452 

 
35 ALG-27589 
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Census Records of the Thomas Children  
 

Name 1851 
Census 

1861 Census 1871 Census 1881 
Census 

1891 
Census 

1901 
Census 

1911 Census 

Elizabeth Not located Not identified 
as Indian 

English English Not given Deceased - 

 ALG-40237 ALG-40243 ALG-40244 ALG-40260   
Charles Jr. Not located Not located Deceased - - - - 

       
John Deceased Deceased Deceased - - - - 

       
Edward Not given Not identified 

as Indian 
English English Not given Could not be 

located, 
presumed 
deceased. 

- 

ALG-40227 ALG-40237 ALG-27589 ALG-40246 ALG-40258   
William Not given Not identified 

as Indian 
English English Deceased - - 

ALG-40227 ALG-40238 ALG-27589 ALG-27579 ALG-40259   
Margaret Not located Not located English French Not given Deceased - 

  ALG-40241 ALG-40268 ALG-40252   
Thomas Not given Not identified 

as Indian 
Welsh English Not given English Canadian 

ALG-40235 ALG-40239 ALG-40242 ALG-40247 ALG-40261 ALG-40262 ALG-40263 
Hannah Not given Not identified 

as Indian 
Deceased - - - - 

ALG-40235 ALG-40237      
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Name 1851 
Census 

1861 Census 1871 Census 1881 
Census 

1891 
Census 

1901 
Census 

1911 Census 

Frances Ann Not given Not identified 
as Indian 

English English Not given English Deceased 

ALG-40227 ALG-40237 ALG-27589 ALG-40254 ALG-40255 ALG-40256*  
Alexander 
Christie 

Not located Not identified 
as Indian 

English English Not given English Deceased 

 ALG-40237 ALG-40243 ALG-40244 ALG-40260 ALG-40264  
Richard Story Not located Not identified 

as Indian 
English English Not given English Deceased 

 ALG-40223 ALG-40240 ALG-40244 ALG-40266 ALG-40265  
 

* Of note is that Frances Ann Thomas/Sunstrum was enumerated on the 1901 Census living next door to Matthew Bernard (RIN 
#9101) and his mother Catherine Papino (RIN #6989). Both individuals are listed on the Schedule of Ancestors and identified as being 
Metis French Breed on this census. Frances Ann Thomas identified as being English. 
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None of the Thomas children were identified as Metis, Indian, Half-Breed or Algonquin on these 
census or death records nor do they marry into any known Algonquin families. No documents 
have been located that indicate that they supported known Algonquin families in significant life 
events, such as witnessing baptisms, marriages, or burials. 

 
• The 1881 census of Golden Lake should be considered as it names those living on the 

Reserve eight years after its creation in 1873.36 No member of the Thomas family was listed 
on this census as living on the newly-created Algonquin reserve.  

 
• Some of the grandchildren of Hannah Mannell and Charles Thomas were baptized and 

buried at the mission church at Golden Lake.37 The fact of their burial in the cemetery on the 
reserve was presented as an argument to support Algonquin roots for the Thomas family. 
Given that the Thomas family lived on Golden Lake, the mission church would have 
geographically been the closest church with which to conduct services for this family. As 
noted below, non-Indigenous people were known to have been buried there. 

 
o The Archives of Ontario, Cemetery Record Collection provides a summary of “Our Lady of 

Nativity Roman Catholic Church” on the Algonquin reserve at Golden Lake. The chapel was 
first constructed in 1872 with the aid of Irish and French settlers, and was considered a 
satellite of the church at Eganville. Some services for the Thomas family were conducted at 
the Eganville church. The summary also states that “some Irish and French are also buried 
here, more towards the back of the cemetery,” indicating that the cemetery was not used 
solely for Algonquins living on the Golden Lake reserve.38 

F. Issues/Summary 
Hannah Mannell is of Indigenous descent, being the daughter of John Mannell, an English fur 
trader, and an unnamed Indigenous woman. The question at hand is whether there is evidence 
that she was considered Algonquin. A key step in determining the probable Indigenous ancestry 
of Hannah Mannell is to examine the Indigenous group or groups who were in control of and/or 
extensively used the area at the time that John Mannell formed a relationship with Hannah 
Mannell’s mother.  
 
Hannah was born at Kenoogumesee (aka Kenogamisse) in August 1795, which means she was 
conceived around December 1794. The birth date of Hannah indicates that John Mannell met 
her mother at the latest in December 1794 or perhaps a few years earlier. There is no evidence 
that any children were born of this union prior to Hannah. Thus, the relevant time period is 
likely 1791/92 to 1794, but clearly by December 1794. 
 
In the years prior to the birth of Hannah Mannell, her father John Mannell was working inland 
up the Moose River system extending the trade for the HBC. A detailed review of post journals 
during the relevant time period provides an outline of John Mannell travels. The journal entries 
record day to day activities; there is no mention of John’s wife or children in these records. 

 
36 ALG-40245 37 ALG-05772 38 ALG-40267 
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A summary of the entries is contained in Appendix 3 and outlined below. 
 
The post journals reflect the keen competition from “Canadian” traders at this time. The 
Canadian traders came into the territory via Lake Abitibi. The HBC men travelled inland via the 
Moose River from Moose Factory, which was their main post and terminus for transporting furs 
to Europe and receiving goods to trade with the Indigenous trappers. 
 
John Mannell left Frederick House on June 15, 1794 for Moose Factory. He left Moose Fort two 
weeks later with three men and 20 Indians in eight canoes loaded with trade goods to establish 
a post at Kenogamissi Lake. The purpose of the new post was to “intercept the 
Sowewewaminican. Trade.” The Soweweaminican area was west of Kenogamissi House.  
 
Mannell arrived at Kenogamissi Lake in July 1794 and established the new post. Hannah would 
have been conceived around December 1794 some four to five months later. Some Indigenous 
trappers including Captain Shappoheeshickwecum, who traded at Frederick House came to the 
new post. Mannell took some trips inland from the new post. Hannah was born at Kenogamissi, 
presumably at the post, in August 1795. Mannell continued as the master at Kenogamissi with 
seasonal trips to Moose Factory. He returned to Moose Factory in the summer of 1797. 
Hannah’s sister Mary was born there in September 1797 shortly after John left for England on 
leave. 
 
Mannell was at Kenogamissi Lake for four or five months before Hannah Mannell was 
conceived. As the purpose of establishing Kenogamissi Lake was to capture the 
Sowewewaminican trade, it is possible that Hannah’s mother came from that area. Country 
marriages between traders and Indigenous women was a common way to cement trade bonds 
between Indigenous groups and commercial traders. In the absence of other evidence, it is also 
possible that she came from the Frederick House area where Mannell had been stationed prior 
to establishing the post at Kenogamissi or from Moose Factory which Mannell visited for 
several months every summer. 
 
According to most reputable sources these posts were located in Cree or Ojibwe territory 
during the relevant time period. 
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Appendix 1: Family of Hannah Mannell RIN #18786 
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Appendix 2: Ancestor Timeline for Hannah Mannell 
The documents in this table are listed chronologically.  

The documents can be found in Appendix 5, organized by ALG document number  
 

Date Event Location Notes Origin Doc No. 
1793-08-31 Birth Kenoogimesee, Ontario Birth of Hannah Mannell Not given ALG-40222 
1814-06-24 Relocation From Moose Factory to 

Vaudreuil, Quebec 
The Thomas family relocate ‘en masse’ to Vaudreuil, 
Quebec 

Not given ALG-40224 

1824-02-16 Marriage St. James Anglican Church, 
Hudson Heights, Quebec 

Marriage of Charles Thomas and Hannah Mannell Not given ALG-14788 

1824-02-16 Baptism  St. James Anglican Church, 
Hudson Heights, Quebec 

Baptism of Hannah Mannell, born August 31, 1793 Not given ALG-14788 

1824-02-16 Baptism  St. James Anglican Church, 
Hudson Heights, Quebec 

Baptism of Elizabeth, daughter of Charles Thomas and 
Hannah Mannell, born October 12, 1812 

Not given ALG-14788 

1824-02-16 Baptism  St. James Anglican Church, 
Hudson Heights, Quebec 

Baptism of Charles, son of Charles Thomas and 
Hannah Mannell, born May 1, 1815 

Not given ALG-14788 

1824-02-16 Baptism  St. James Anglican Church, 
Hudson Heights, Quebec 

Baptism of John, son of Charles Thomas and Hannah 
Mannell, born August 10, 1817 

Not given ALG-14788 

1824-02-16 Baptism  St. James Anglican Church, 
Hudson Heights, Quebec 

Baptism of Edward, son of Charles Thomas and 
Hannah Mannell, born November 18, 1819 

Not given ALG-14788 

1824-02-16 Baptism  St. James Anglican Church, 
Hudson Heights, Quebec 

Baptism of William, son of Charles Thomas and 
Hannah Mannell, born February 15, 1822 

Not given ALG-14788 

1824-11-10 Birth St. James Anglican Church, 
Hudson Heights, Quebec 

Birth of Margaret, of Charles Thomas and Hannah 
Mannell 

Not given ALG-14788 

1825-00-00 Census Vaudreuil, Quebec Charles Thomas enumerated on census; no family 
breakdown given 

Not given ALG-40251 

1825-01-19 Baptism  St. James Anglican Church, 
Hudson Heights, Quebec 

Baptism of Margaret, daughter of Charles Thomas and 
Hannah Mannell, born November 10, 1824 

Not given ALG-14788 
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Date Event Location Notes Origin Doc No. 
1827-06-24 Birth Recorded in the parish records of 

St. James Anglican Church, 
Hudson Heights, Quebec 

Birth record of Thomas, son of Charles Thomas and 
Hannah Mannell 

Not given ALG-14788 

1830-06-30 Birth Recorded in the parish records of 
St. James Anglican Church, 
Hudson Heights, Quebec 

Birth record of Hannah, daughter of Charles Thomas 
and Hannah Mannell 

Not given ALG-14788 

1832-06-23 Birth Recorded in the parish records of 
St. James Anglican Church, 
Hudson Heights, Quebec 

Birth record of Frances Ann, daughter of Charles 
Thomas and Hannah Mannell 

Not given ALG-14788 

1834-11-09 Birth Golden Lake, Ontario Birth record of Alexander Christie, son of Charles 
Thomas and Hannah Mannell 

Not given ALG-14788 

1838-06-14 Birth Golden Lake, Ontario Birth record of Richard Story, son of Charles Thomas 
and Hannah Mannell 

Not given ALG-14788 

1839-11-25 Death Unknown, presumably Golden 
Lake 

Death of son John, family bible notes death date Not given ALG-14709 

1861-00-00 Census Township of Algona, Renfrew Enumerated with husband Charles and son Richard Not given ALG-40223 
1863-05-16 Death Unknown, presumably Golden 

Lake 
Death of daughter Hannah, family bible notes death 
date 

Not given ALG-14709 

1865-03-22 Death Unknown, presumably Golden 
Lake 

Death of son Charles, family bible notes death date Not given ALG-14709 

1868-04-06 Death Unknown, presumably Golden 
Lake 

Death of Hannah, family bible notes death date Not given ALG-14709 
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Appendix 3: Evidence of Post Journals:  
Frederick House (Frederick House) and Kenogamissi [Kinogumisee House] 

 
The following are brief summaries of information in the HBC post journals that indicate the 
activities and contacts of John Mannell. There is no mention of his wife or children, which 
would be normal as the HBC men were not supposed to keep wives. In these records, 
“Canadians” are independent traders in competition with the HBC traders. “MB” means “Made 
Beaver,” being beaver skins stretched and treated, ready for sale.  
 
The originals of these journal extracts are on file with the Enrolment Officer. 
 
Journal B.75/a/7 – FREDERICK HOUSE, 1791-1792 
June 1791 to June 1792 

Post journal kept by Robert Folster from June 20, 1791 to March 29, 1792; John Mannell 
takes over March 30 and makes all entries to June 24, 1792. 
o April 28: “Robt Folster and Thos Norwich gone over the Carrying place towards Abbitibbi 

to see if the Canadians was there as I had information from a Widow woman which 
came in on Friday of them being there and taking the Furs from her and another Indian 
tho’ not in Debt” 

o June 17: “P.M. [illegible numeral] canoes of old women and children came in brought 
only 9 beaver” 

o June 21: HBC men and 12 Indians arrived in 9 canoes with supplies from [Moose] Fort 
o Place names: Pusquashagamy Lake39 
o Indian names: most referred to only as “Indians” or “an Indian” 

 
Journal B.75/a/8 – FREDERICK HOUSE, 1792-1793 
June 1792 to June 1793 

Post journal kept by John Mannell; brief periods when Robert Folster was the writer. 
o June 25: Sent furs to “the Fort” [Moose Factory]. 5 men and 3 lads arrived from 

Abbitibbi with load of 112 MB. Next day states “Indians” went away, which suggests the 
men and lads were Indians and not HBC men 

o Oct. 10: an old man and his wife came in with a few furs and some provisions 
o Oct. 14: “Isaac Constant and Michael China [illegible surname] with three labourers 

entered the Lake with a Canoe load of Trading goods and Provisions, they came from 
Abbitibbi over the long carrying place have more Goods behind and are intended to 
spend the Winter here.” [This is competition: Canadians] Next day they are referred to 
as “The Canadians” who have established themselves on Devil’s Island 

o Oct. 22: “Long Tom and Minaquawon was coming across the Lake, the Canadians went 
off to them and took the Furrs from them by force”  

o Oct. 24: Mannel gives them brandy and tobacco to “encourage them not to go to the 
Canadians”. Quosot brought in 24 MB and provision. Places an old man and his wife at 

 
39 ALG- 40170 - due south of Frederick House, likely at the headwaters of its river system.  
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Pusquashagamy Lake “to inform the Indians that was coming here to Trade of the 
Canadians being here” 40 

o Oct. 26: reports that Canadians went to old man at Pusquashagamy Lake stole from him, 
roughed him up and gave brandy and tobacco to be in their service. Supposedly 
Canadians followed Quasot when he left Frederick House 

o Oct. 27 and 29: sent men to Pusquashagamy Lake to waylay Indians 
o Numerous references to trips to Pusquashagamy Lake through winter as source of 

hunters bringing in provisions and furs and men traveling to bring in Indians to trade. 
Competition with Canadians is intense 

o Feb. 21, 1793: Shappokeesichwesum and Quasot bring in 32 MB 
o Feb. 23: gets intelligence from old man he had stationed at Pusqhashagamy in October, 

that after the Indians left (possibly referring to Feb 21 above) they went to Canadians: “I 
gave them every encouragement now and promised the captain an addition to his usual 
present when he came in the Spring” 

o April: reference to Folster going over the carrying place to Abbitibbi Lake to waylay 
Indians.41 The Canadians see them go and follow their tracks. The next day the men 
returned to Frederick House; the Canadians went on to Abbitibbi Lake 

o April 24: Peter Grant, Clerk from Sowwewaminicam42 arrived at the Canadians’ House 
o May 11: two of his men gone over the carrying place and are to go down the Abbitibbi 

River to the Log Tents. Two men coming home that way brought 15 MB they got from 
Indians at Big Lake. Captain Shappokushickwescum43 came in with 66MB, “gave him his 
usual Present with some addition according to my promise when he was here in Winter, 
he says the Canadians promised him much if he went to them” 

o May 15: off to Big Lake to waylay Indians 
o  A lot of references to the men making “Indian coats” in this journal and the previous 

one. Not in subsequent journals 
o June 7: four HBC men with Indian arrive with supplies from “the Fort” 
o June 9: dispatched canoes with furs to the Fort with HBC men and “all the Factory 

Indians except Abbicotch and Tom whom I’ve detained to accompany me to 
Sowwewaminican44 

o June 10: Three Indians “strangers for Abbitibbi” came in brought 30 MB; Captain 
Shappokeeshickwesum Atwowo and Quasot brought 13 MB, Musquash gave the captain 
a two-gal jugs of brandy to drink among the Indians also gave the three strangers one 
gallon of Brandy Tobacco &c to carry away 

 
40 This lake is due south indicating that their Aboriginal trade was coming from that direction. 
41 This indicates some trade was coming from Lake Abitibi region 
42 ALG-40269 - Sowwewaminicam was an area said to be about 70- or 80-miles WSW of Frederick House, i.e., west 

of Kenogamisi 
43 The designation “Captain” was an honorific HBC traders gave to local leaders who could encourage their 

relatives to trade with the HBC. They usually headed trading groups coming in to see traders and negotiated for 
their people. They earned prestige and influence with both their own people and HBC traders. 

44 ALG-40269 - Sowwewaminicam was an area said to be about 70- or 80-miles WSW of Frederick House, i.e., west 
of Kenogamisi.  
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o June 13: Mannell, Halcow and 4 Indians set off for Sowwewaminican in three small 
canoes 

o June 17: Alex Belly and an Indian arrived from the Fort with a small canoe. Atowwow 
brought a small canoe paid 8 MB for it 

o June 23: Mannell arrived back at Frederick House with “the Indians” 
o June 25: Shappokeeshikwesum and other Indians that had been about here some time 

went away. [i.e., since June 10] 
o June 27: Mannell leaves Frederick House to travel to the Factory with Alex Belly and two 

Indians. Leaves Robert Folster in charge with three labourers 
o Place names: Pusquashagamy Lake; Abbitibbi River; Big Lake, Sowwewaminican 
o Indian names: many referred to only as “Indians” or “an Indian” with exception of 

names listed in entries 
 
John Mannell/Mannell spends over three months away from Frederick House. On June 27, 
1793 he leaves Frederick House for Moose Factory and arrives back at Frederick House in 
October, 1793. 

 
Journal B.75/a/9 – FREDERICK HOUSE, 1793-1794 
June 1793 to June 1794 

Post journal kept by John Mannell with some entries by former post employee Robert 
Folster. 
o Oct. 6, 1793: Captain Shappokeeshickusum came in traded and went away 
o Oct. 7: Mannell arrives with Alex Belly and Willam Halcro and Indians from the Fort in 

two canoes. Mannell takes over the next day 
o Oct. 8: a Canadian trader and master arrived with Indians from Lake Abbitibbi 
o Oct. 14: Quasot went off to his winter hunting grounds 
o March 28, 1794: Wintabbanawena came in with little provisions and a few skins; went 

away the next day 
o April 1: reference to men going to Big Lake to trade with some Indians but the 

Canadians see them go and follow [competition for furs]. Two Canadians who came 
from Abbitibbi went away 

o Men went off to Abbitibbi to trade under Assistant Robert Folster 
o April 7: Wintabbonawena came in with 4 martins 

o Also references to his men going to carrying place to waylay Indians he expects 
in 

o April 21: one Canadian and an Indian arrived “at our neighbours from 
Sowewewaminican” 

o April 23: Indians that Folster had gone to waylay had their furs taken by the Canadians 
“at the Log Tents” but have some apart that they will trade with Mannell – left two days 
later with tobacco and brandy 

o April 26: Atourwow and son came with a few furs 
o April 28 to May 15: Mannell away Folster is writing entries, whereabouts of Mannell not 

known but see entry below suggesting he was trading away from post 
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o May 15: Mannell arrived with Captain Shappokeeshickwesum, Quasot and 
Kewastogonce and brought 126 MB 

o May 17: Indians traded and went away, gave the captain his annual presents, 
dispatched two Indian lads with a Packet for the Fort 

o May 21: Mannell goes off to Abbitibbi with two Indians 
o May 24: The Captain came in with Indians he met with at Big Lake, brought nearly 40 

MB, traded, went away directly [Mannell away] 
o June 1: Indian came in with 60 MB 
o June 2: Mannell and 2 men return form Abbitibbi 
o June 3: sent all men to Carrying place to bring in goods and furs brought from Abbitibbi 
o June 9-11: news of goods going up the Abbitibbi. Men dispatched to assist bringing good 

to Frederick House. Rest going on to Abbitibbi Lake. McKnight who is traveling to 
Abbitibbi fell in with some Indians going to Abbitibbi to trade but convinced them to 
trade with him, also came into Frederick House and traded [HBC men used brandy to 
get this trade] 

o June 13: Mannell sent a packet to Abbitibbi with a crew of 11 men and Moose Factory 
Indians with two boats and three canoes 

o June 14: Mr. McKnight and 10 Indians went to Fort with trade amounting to 1137 MB 
o June 15: Mannell left for Moose Fort with 2 Indians by way of South River. Took an 

Indian lad and Will Halcrow to show them the carrying places from Frederick House to 
that river. [Halcrow and lad return to Frederick House, do not go with Mannell to 
Factory] 

 
June 15 to June 30, 1794: John Mannell travels from Fort Frederick to Moose Factory. He 
leaves Moose Factory on June 30 and travels to Kenogamissi where he intends to establish a 
new inland post. He arrives in Kenogamissi on July 20, 1794. 

 
Journal B.99/a1 – KENOGAMISSI, 1794-1795 
June 1794 to June 1975 

Post journal kept by John Mannell –travels to the post and establishes it and stays the entire 
time as post is built and trading takes place. 
o June 30: Mannell leaves Moose Fort with three men and 20 Indians in eight canoes 

loaded with trade goods. – [24 people in 8 canoes45] to establish a post to “intercept the 
Sowewewaminican Trade” 46 

o July 3: starts up the Wappisicogamy Branch 
o July 12-13: prior to setting up post, named several Indians they met and traded with: 

Pistace, Muscootan, and Mawmawquatch’s sons a little above Waeshagamy River. Next 
day passes Parhasichhone Rive  

o July 14: met with old Mawmawquatch 

 
45  Know from later references that they had at least one small canoe, suggests a mixed flotilla 
46 ALG-40269 - Sowwewaminicam was an area said to be about 70- or 80-miles WSW of Frederick House, i.e. west 

of Kenogamisi. 
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o July 19: pass carrying place that goes to Frederick House; camp at Wawayaston[?] met 
Aquascum & sons and Puckeaquonce 

o July 20: arrive at Kinoogoomisee Lake where they will erect the post 
o Following entries traded with Indians here, references to Indians setting off for 

the fort. Uplanders that came up with Mannell “also went off to their families.” 
o July 24: William Halcrow and George Taylor arrive from Frederick House 
o Indians come in to trade with furs 
o Aug. 4: Shappokeeshickweescum came in with 12 MB and some provisions and went 

away 
o Aug. 14: four canoes of Indians come in to trade [post is still being built]. They left the 

next day 
o In month of October there is reference to an Indian from Frederick House staying here 

who is supplying beaver from time to time 
o Nov. 24: Nov men went to Wawayaston to hunt, Indian arrive with 12 MB. Other trips to 

this lake to hunt by the men are recorded 
o Dec. 18 “Captain Shappoheeshickwescum came in, brought 25 MBeaver.” More Indians 

come in the next day to trade a substantial amount and leave the following day (Dec. 
20) 

o Dec. 22: takes day trip with Indian lad to Wawayorston to set net and measure distances 
o Jan. 9: three Indians arrive with 35 MB, one left; over next two days others leave 
o Route to Frederick House appears to cross Wayayorston to Pusquachagamy Lake  

 
• Hannah Mannell was most likely conceived here at Kenogamissi in December 1794. 

 
John Mannell continues at Kenogamissi. 
 
Journal B.99/a/2 – KENOGAMISSI, 1795-1796 
June 25, 1795 to April 16, 1796  

Post journal is kept by John Mannell  
o Aug. 6: two Canadians and an Indian from Manitowagumiwan Lake passed on their way 

to their settlement at Frederick House 
o Canadians who passed on 6th returned with Master and one man from Frederick House 

going to visit at Mantowagumman [Manitowagumiwan] Mannell learns of death of 
Shappeheshichweseum from them. [This suggests the Shappeheshichweseum is from 
Frederick House or someplace nearby] 

o Aug. 31: Hannah Mannell is born. Nothing in the post journal suggests this event, which 
would not be unusual as the HBC men were not supposed to keep wives 

o Nov. 7: Nebarmoose down the river to see if men have returned from Frederick House. 
o Nov. 23-26: Mannell returns on Nov. 27 notes men have not returned from Frederick 

House 
o Dec. 17: Nebarmoose returned 
o March 21, 1796: Philip Good, J. Staten and Jos Gaudie arrived from Frederick House 

(Staten is from Abbitibbi others from the Factory). Hunters had gone to their tents but 
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meeting with the paquetters they returned again [i.e., the 3 named servants were 
bringing goods by way of Frederick House] 

o April 26: Mannell sets off with 4 Indians who had arrived on April 24 bringing beaver, 
and two men for Winusk Lake in four small canoes with 190 MB in trading goods and 
some provisions with intent of waylaying Indians going to trade with Canadians. Left 
Good in charge. [This implies 7 men in four canoes; was Mrs. Mannell the eighth 
paddler?]  

o April 27 to May 25: post journal is kept by Philip Good while Mannell is away 
o John Mannell is absent for about a month. [Hannah is about 8 months old] 

o June 25: John Mannell returns to Kenogamissi post with two men. He brought “beaver, 
traded from sundry Indians that he had met with since his Departure from here the 26, 
Ulto.  

o May and June: references to Indians coming from The Factory [Moose] with supplies 
and trading 

o June 11: Mannell leaves with people who came up from factory and George Taylor to 
proceed to the Fort. Left Good in charge 

 
From June 11, 1796 to October 12, 1796 Mannell traveled from Kenogamissi to Moose 
Factory, remained at Moose Factory for just over two months and then returned to 
Kenogamissi. 

 
Journal B.99/a/3 – KENOGAMISSI, 1796-1797 [Kinogumisee House] 
June 12, 1796 to July 24, 1797 

o Oct. 12: John Mannell arrived from Moose Factory after traveling for 21 days with five 
HBC men and 2 Indians in two large canoes. He took over from Philip Good on October 
14, 1796. Philip Good set off with a few men for Frederick House 

o Trips out to Wawayorston for fish, few Indians coming in to trade, one instance of HBC 
man and Nebarmoose going after some Indians (to get their trade). Other named 
Indians coming into trade include Narshgonce [Heashgonce], Towarmangis, Wesmanan, 
Pamahnowescum, Atowiwow, Wian, Mistickquahee, Neparmoose 

o June 1, 1797: Neswacoose came in brought 73 MBeaver, gave him a Leaders coat &c.” 
o June 20: Neswacoose “went away and promised to return in about 12 days to 

accompany as a pilot in exploring the country to the Southward.” [i.e., had little 
experience to the south at this time] 

o July 15: sent Nebarmoose to Frederick House “to pilot those persons who’s coming 
here” 

o July 19: Philip good and two other wan an Indian arrived from Frederick House. 
o July 22: John Mannell is set to go to Factory but is detained by “the non arrival of an 

Indian who’s going down with me” 
o July 24: Indian who was engaged to assist him did not arrive so hired another one and 

set off for the Factory. With an HBC man and 3 Indians in two small canoes (five men) 
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Appendix 4: Supporting Document List for Hannah Mannell 
The documents in this table are listed by ALG number and appended in Appendix 5 

 
Document 
Number 

Document 
Date 

Document Description Reference 

ALG-05772 1893-07-30 Baptism of James Joseph 
Thomas 

Diocese of Pembroke: Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Roman Catholic Baptisms, 
Marriages, and Burials, 1760-1923 Golden Lake > Saint John the Baptist > Parish 
registers, 1883-1897 p. 15 

ALG-14709 1995-05-05 Page from Family Bible of 
Charles Thomas 

Source provided by original applicant 

ALG-14788 2003-06-10 Print out of services for 
Thomas family 

Source provided by original applicant; St. James Anglican Church, Hudson Heights, 
Quebec. 

ALG-27579 1881-00-00 Census of William Thomas LAC RG 31-C-1 Reels C-13162 - C-13286; Ancestry.ca 1881 Census of Canada Ontario > 
Renfrew North > Wilberforce and North Algona p. 26 

ALG-27589 1871-00-00 Census of William Sunstrum LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-10022; Ancestry.ca 1871 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew 
North > Algona p. 17 

ALG-28398 1800-12-18 Baptism of Charles Thomas AOO MS 161 Moose Factory Anglican Missions Baptism, 1780-1850 
ALG-29452 1902-06-19 Civil Death Record of 

Richard Story Thomas 
AOO MS 935 Reel 108; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Deaths and Deaths Overseas, 
1869-1948 Renfrew > 1901 p. 123 

ALG-40054 1825-00-00 Census of Algonquin Village 
at Lake of Two Mountains 

LAC MG 31-C-1 Reel C-718; www.ancestry.ca 1825 Census of Lower Canada York > 
Lac des Deux-Montagnes 

ALG-40170 1987-00-00 Historical Atlas of Canada; 
Trading Posts, 1774-1821 

Harris, R. Cole, editor. Historical Atlas of Canada. Vol. 1: From the Beginning to 1800. 
Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1987, plate 62. 

ALG-40171 2018-00-00 Indigenous Peoples Atlas of 
Canada 

Canadian Geographic. Indigenous Peoples Atlas of Canada. Ottawa: The Royal 
Canadian Geographical Society, 2018. 

ALG-40175 1990-00-00 Canada Native People’s 
1823 

Canada. Native peoples 1823. Produced by the National Atlas Information Service, 
Geographical Services Division, Canada Centre for Mapping, Energy, Mines and 
Resources Canada. Printed 1990. The National Atlas of Canada (5th edition).  
https://recherche-collection-search.bac-
lac.gc.ca/eng/home/record?app=indreswescan&IdNumber=2740  

https://recherche-collection-search.bac-lac.gc.ca/eng/home/record?app=indreswescan&IdNumber=2740
https://recherche-collection-search.bac-lac.gc.ca/eng/home/record?app=indreswescan&IdNumber=2740
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Document 
Number 

Document 
Date 

Document Description Reference 

ALG-40221 1987-00-00 Historical Atlas of Canada; 
Hudson’s Bay Company 
Posts, 1789-1790 

Harris, R. Cole, editor. Historical Atlas of Canada. Vol. 1: From the Beginning to 1800. 
Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1987, plate 64. 

ALG-40222 1795-08-00 Birth record of Hannah 
Mannell, and Mary Mannell 

AOO MS 161 Moose Factory Anglican Missions Baptism, 1780-1850 

ALG-40223 1861-00-00 Census for Charles and 
Hannah Thomas 

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-1070; Ancestry.ca 1861 Census of Canada Canada West > 
Renfrew p. 235 

ALG-40224 2016-11-00 HBC Service record for John 
Thomas Sr. 

HBC Biographical Sheet of John Thomas Sr. Hudson’s Bay Company Biographical 
Sheet for John Thomas Sr. 2016; PAM, HBCA, Thomas, John Sr 
https://www.gov.mb.ca/chc/archives/_docs/hbca/biographical/t/thomas_john-sr.pdf 

ALG-40225 1999-11-00 HBC Service record for 
Charles Thomas 

HBC Biographical Sheet of Charles Thomas Hudson’s Bay Company Biographical Sheet 
for Charles Thomas 2009; PAM, HBCA, Thomas, Charles 
https://www.gov.mb.ca/chc/archives/_docs/hbca/biographical/t/thomas_charles.pdf 

ALG-40226 1966-00-00 
[publication] 

Book extract: article 
regarding the family of 
Charles Thomas 

Lake, Ernest Lloyd B.A., Rural Dean of Pembroke. Pioneer Reminiscences of The Upper 
Ottawa Valley. Eganville: Lake, 1966. 

ALG-40227 1851-00-00 Census for Thomas Family LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-11751; Ancestry.ca 1851 1851 Census of Canada East, Canada 
West, New Brunswick, and Nova Scotia Canada West (Ontario) > Renfrew County > 
Wilberforce p. 19 

ALG-40230 1991-09-00 HBC Service record for John 
Mannal 

HBC Biographical Sheet of John Mannal Hudson’s Bay Company Biographical Sheet 
for John Mannal 1991; PAM, HBCA, Mannal, John 
https://www.gov.mb.ca/chc/archives/_docs/hbca/biographical/m/mannal_john.pdf 

ALG-40231 1980-00-00 Book excerpt: Strangers in 
Blood: Fur Trade Company 
Families  

Brown, Jennifer S. H. Strangers in Blood: Fur Trade Company Families in Indian 
Country. Vancouver: University of British Columbia Press, 1980. 

ALG-40234 1925-02-14 Newspapers article with 
regards to Charles Thomas 

The Ottawa Citizen (Ottawa, Ontario, Canada) Sat. Feb 14, 1925 
www.newspapers.com/image/456299119  

ALG-40235 1851-00-00 Census for Thomas Thomas LAC; Ancestry.ca 1851 Census of Canada East, Canada West, New Brunswick, and 
Nova Scotia Canada West (Ontario) > Renfrew County > Wilberforce p. 9 

http://www.newspapers.com/image/456299119
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Document 
Number 

Document 
Date 

Document Description Reference 

ALG-40237 1861-00-00 Census for Thomas Family LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-1070; Ancestry.ca 1861 Census of Canada Canada West > 
Renfrew p. 236 

ALG-40238 1861-00-00 Census for William Thomas LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-1070; Ancestry.ca 1861 Census of Canada Canada West > 
Renfrew p. 112 

ALG-40239 1861-00-00 Census for Thomas Thomas LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-1070; Ancestry.ca 1861 Census of Canada Canada West > 
Renfrew p. 113 

ALG-40240 1871-00-00 Census for Richard Thomas LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-10022; Ancestry.ca 1871 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew 
North > Algona p. 16 

ALG-40241 1871-00-00 Census for Charles Lafleur LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-10022; Ancestry.ca 1871 Census of Canada Ontario > Nipissing 
South > Bonnechére p. 2 

ALG-40242 1871-00-00 Census for Thomas Thomas LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-10022; Ancestry.ca 1871 Census of Canada Ontario > Nipissing 
North > Mattawan West p. 2 

ALG-40243 1871-00-00 Census for Elizabeth and 
Alexander Thomas 

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-10022; Ancestry.ca 1871 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew 
North > Algona p. 11 

ALG-40244 1881-00-00 Census for Elizabeth and 
Alexander Thomas, and 
Richard Thomas 

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reels C-13162 - C-13286; Ancestry.ca 1881 Census of Canada Ontario > 
Renfrew North > Wilberforce and North Algona p. 25 

ALG-40245 1881-00-00 Census for Golden Lake 
Reservation 

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-13235; Ancestry.ca 1881 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew 
North > Unorganised Territory p. 9-13 

ALG-40246 1881-00-00 Census for Edward Thomas LAC RG 31-C-1 Reels C-13234; Ancestry.ca 1881 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew 
North > Algona South p. 15 

ALG-40247 1881-00-00 Census for Thomas Thomas LAC RG 31-C-1 Reels C-13162 - C-13286; Ancestry.ca 1881 Census of Canada Ontario > 
Muskoka > Himsworth and Gurd and Pringle and Nipissing p. 16 

ALG-40248 1892-12-30 Civil Death Record for Betsy 
Thomas 

AOO MS 935 Reel 69; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Deaths and Deaths Overseas, 
1869-1948 Renfrew > 1892 p. 98 

ALG-40249 1907-09-23 Civil Death Record for 
Alexander Thomas 

AOO MS 935 Reel 132; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Deaths and Deaths Overseas, 
1869-1948 Renfrew > 1907 p. 86 

ALG-40250 1911-11-23 Civil Death Record for 
Thomas Thomas 

AOO MS 935 Reel 167; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Deaths and Deaths Overseas, 
1869-1948 Parry Sound > 1911 p. 81 
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Document 
Number 

Document 
Date 

Document Description Reference 

ALG-40251 1825-00-00 Census for Charles Thomas FamilySearch Canada, Lower Canada Census, 1825; Ancestry.ca 1825 Census of Lower 
Canada York > Vaudreuil p. 1 

ALG-40252 1891-00-00 Census for Charles and 
Margaret Lafleur 

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel T-6366; Ancestry.ca 1891 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew 
South> Hagarty and Jones p. 7 

ALG-40253 1899-03-12 Burial record of Margaret 
Thomas 

Diocese of Pembroke; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Roman Catholic Baptisms, 
Marriages, and Burials, 1760-1923 Eganville > Saint James the Less > Baptism, 
Marriage, Burial; Eganville; 1897-1921 p. 58| 

ALG-40254 1881-00-00 Census for William 
Sunstrum 

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-13234; Ancestry.ca 1881 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew 
South > Hagarty and Jones p. 10 

ALG-40255 1891-00-00 Census for William 
Sunstrum 

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel T-6355; Ancestry.ca 1891 Census of Canada Ontario > Nipissing > 
Mattawa and Papineau p. 2 

ALG-40256 1901-00-00 Census for William 
Sunstrum 

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reels T-6428 - T-6556; Ancestry.ca 1901 Census of Canada Ontario > 
Nipissing > Papineau p. 8 

ALG-40257 1911-00-00 Census for William 
Sunstrum 

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reels T-20326 - T-20460; Ancestry.ca 1911 Census of Canada Ontario > 
Nipissing > Sub-District 103 - Mattawa p. 18 

ALG-40258 1891-00-00 Census for Edward Thomas LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel T-6366; Ancestry.ca 1891 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew 
South > Hagarty and Jones p. 9 

ALG-40259 1891-00-00 Census for Widow of 
William Thomas 

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel T-6365; Ancestry.ca 1891 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew 
North > Wilberforce North p. 21 

ALG-40260 1891-00-00 Census for Alexander and 
Elizabeth Thomas 

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reek T-6365; Ancestry.ca 1891 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew 
North > Wilberforce North p. 20 

ALG-40261 1891-00-00 Census for Thomas Thomas LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel T-6354; Ancestry.ca 1891 Census of Canada Ontario > Muskoka 
and Parry Sound > Nipissing and Himsworth South p. 27 

ALG-40262 1901-00-00 Census for Thomas Thomas LAC RG 31-C-1 Reels T-6428 - T-6556; Ancestry.ca 1901 Census of Canada Ontario > 
Muskoka and Parry Sound > Nipissing p. 13 

ALG-40263 1911-00-00 Census for Thomas Thomas LAC RG 31-C-1 Reels T-20326 - T-20460; Ancestry.ca 1911 Census of Canada Ontario > 
Parry Sound > Sub-District 27 - Nipissing Township, Nipissing Village p. 9 

ALG-40264 1901-00-00 Census for Alexander 
Thomas 

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reels T-6428 - T-6556; Ancestry.ca 1901 Census of Canada Ontario > 
Renfrew (North/Nord) > Wilberforce and Algona (North/Nord) p. 49 
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Document 
Number 

Document 
Date 

Document Description Reference 

ALG-40265 1901-00-00 Census for Richard Thomas LAC RG 31-C-1 Reels T-6428 - T-6556; Ancestry.ca 1901 Census of Canada Ontario > 
Renfrew (North/Nord) > Wilberforce and Algona (North/Nord) p. 50 

ALG-40266 1891-00-00 Census for Richard Thomas LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel T-6365; Ancestry.ca 1891 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew 
North > Wilberforce North p. 24 

ALG-40267 1997-00-00 AOO Cemetery Records 
Collection Series 12 & 13 

AO F 997-12 and F 997-13 File 297 (South Algona - Golden Lake) MS 451 Reel 116 

ALG-40268 1881-00-00 Census for Charles Lafleur LAC RG 31-C-1 Reels C-13162 - C-13286; Ancestry.ca 1881 Census of Canada Ontario > 
Renfrew South > Hagarty and Jones p. 6 

ALG-40269 1954-00-00 Moose Fort Journals 1783-
85 

Editor: Rich, Ernest Edwin; Hudson's Bay Company, 'Moose Fort Journals 1783-85': 
The Hudson's Bay Record Society 1954 

ALG-40271 1833-07-06 Translation: Petition from 
the Algonquins and 
Nipissing Indians of Lake of 
Two Mountains 

LAC RG 10 Vol. 86 1833-07-00 

ALG-50575 1848-00-00 Survey of the Bonnechere 
River 

AO RG 1-59 File "Bonnechere River, McNaughton, 1848b" MS 924 Reel 3 

ALG-90191 1833-07-06 Petition from the 
Algonquins and Nipissing 
Indians of Lake of Two 
Mountains 

LAC RG 10 Vol. 86 1833-07-00 

ALG-90195 1834-04-06 Letter from Captain 
Ducharme to James Hughes 

LAC RG 10 Vol. 88 pp. 35092-93 

ALG-90196 1834-02-24 Letter from the Solicitor 
General from Indian 
Superintendent in Montreal 

LAC RG 10 Vol. 88 pp. 35089-91 

ALG-90197 1834-03-31 Letter from Colonel Napier 
to Solicitor General 

LAC RG 10 Vol. 88 pp. 35096-98 
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Appendix 5: Supporting Document Package for Hannah Mannell 
 

The documents are organized by ALG document number.  
They appear in the same order as in the list in Appendix 4 and are bookmarked for ease of reference. 



 

ALG-05772

Diocese of Pembroke: Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Roman Catholic Baptisms, Marriages, and Burials, 1760-1923 Golden Lake > Saint John the Baptist > Parish registers, 1883-1897 p. 15

JBarton
Rectangle



ALG-14709

Source provided by original applicant; reported to be Thomas Family Bible. 



ALG-14788

Provided by Applicant. St. James Anglican Church, Hudson Heights, QC. Source Not Verfied.



ALG-27579

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reels C-13162 - C-13286; Ancestry.ca 1881 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew North > Wilberforce and North Algona p. 26



ALG-27589

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-10022; Ancestry.ca 1871 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew North > Algona p. 17



ALG-27589

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-10022; Ancestry.ca 1871 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew North > Algona p. 17



ALG-28398

AOO MS 161 Moose Factory Anglican Missions Baptism, 1780-1850



ALG-28398

AOO MS 161 Moose Factory Anglican Missions Baptism, 1780-1850



ALG-28398

AOO MS 161 Moose Factory Anglican Missions Baptism, 1780-1850



ALG-28398

AOO MS 161 Moose Factory Anglican Missions Baptism, 1780-1850



ALG-28398

AOO MS 161 Moose Factory Anglican Missions Baptism, 1780-1850



ALG-28398

AOO MS 161 Moose Factory Anglican Missions Baptism, 1780-1850



ALG-29452

AOO MS 935 Reel 108; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Deaths and Deaths Overseas, 1869-1948 Renfrew > 1901 p. 123



ALG-40054

LAC MG 31-C-1 Reel C-718; www.ancestry.ca 1825 Census of Lower Canada York > Lac des Deux-Montagnes



ALG-40054

LAC MG 31-C-1 Reel C-718; www.ancestry.ca 1825 Census of Lower Canada York > Lac des Deux-Montagnes



ALG-40054

LAC MG 31-C-1 Reel C-718; www.ancestry.ca 1825 Census of Lower Canada York > Lac des Deux-Montagnes



ALG-40170

Harris, R. Cole, editor. Historical Atlas of Canada. Vol. 1: From the Beginning to 1800. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1987, plate 62.



ALG-40170

Harris, R. Cole, editor. Historical Atlas of Canada. Vol. 1: From the Beginning to 1800. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1987, plate 62.



ALG-40170

Harris, R. Cole, editor. Historical Atlas of Canada. Vol. 1: From the Beginning to 1800. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1987, plate 62.



ALG-40171

Canadian Geographic. Indigenous Peoples Atlas of Canada. Ottawa: The Royal Canadian Geographical Society, 2018.



ALG-40171

Canadian Geographic. Indigenous Peoples Atlas of Canada. Ottawa: The Royal Canadian Geographical Society, 2018.



ALG-40171

Canadian Geographic. Indigenous Peoples Atlas of Canada. Ottawa: The Royal Canadian Geographical Society, 2018.



ALG-40175

Canada. Native peoples 1823. Produced by the National Atlas Information Service, Geographical Services Division, Canada Centre for Mapping, Energy, Mines and Resources Canada. Printed 1990. The National Atlas of Canada (5th edition). 
https://recherche-collection-search.bac-lac.gc.ca/eng/home/record?app=indreswescan&IdNumber=2740 



ALG-40221

Harris, R. Cole, editor. Historical Atlas of Canada. Vol. 1: From the Beginning to 1800. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1987, plate 64.



ALG-40221

Harris, R. Cole, editor. Historical Atlas of Canada. Vol. 1: From the Beginning to 1800. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1987, plate 64.



ALG-40221

Harris, R. Cole, editor. Historical Atlas of Canada. Vol. 1: From the Beginning to 1800. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1987, plate 64.



ALG-40222

AOO MS 161 Moose Factory Anglican Missions Baptism, 1780-1850



ALG-40222

AOO MS 161 Moose Factory Anglican Missions Baptism, 1780-1850



ALG-40222

AOO MS 161 Moose Factory Anglican Missions Baptism, 1780-1850



ALG-40222

AOO MS 161 Moose Factory Anglican Missions Baptism, 1780-1850



ALG-40222

AOO MS 161 Moose Factory Anglican Missions Baptism, 1780-1850



ALG-40222

AOO MS 161 Moose Factory Anglican Missions Baptism, 1780-1850



ALG-40223

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-1070; Ancestry.ca 1861 Census of Canada Canada West > Renfrew p. 235



NAME:  THOMAS, John Sr. PARISH: London ENTERED SERVICE: 1769 DATES: b. ca.1751  
d. 9 June 1822

Appointments & Service 
Outfit Year* Position Post District HBCA Reference 
*An Outfit year ran from 1 June to 31 May

1769 Sailed to Moose on Seahorse HBRS XVII, pp. 365-370
1769-1774 Writer Moose Fort Moose HBRS XVII, pp. 365-370
1774-1777 Second Moose Fort Moose HBRS XVII, pp. 365-370
1777-1778 To establish Michipicoten, stayed at Missinaibi Lake HBRS XVII, pp. 365-370
1778-1779 Master Wapiscogamy House Moose HBRS XVII, pp. 365-370
1779-1782 Second Moose, Wapiscogamy House Moose HBRS XVII, pp. 365-370
1782-1789 Chief Moose Fort Moose HBRS XVII, pp. 365-370
1789 Returned to England on Seahorse on account of ill health HBRS XVII, pp. 365-370
1790 Returned to Moose on King George HBRS XVII, pp. 365-370
1790-1800 Chief Moose Moose HBRS XVII, pp. 365-370
1800-1801 In England (Went on King George, back on Prince of Wales) HBRS XVII, pp. 365-370
1801-1807 Chief Moose Moose HBRS XVII, pp. 365-370
1807-1808 In England (Went on King George, back on Prince of Wales) HBRS XVII, pp. 365-370
1808-1813 Chief Factor Moose HBRS XVII, pp. 365-370
1813-1814 Resigned position but still resident at Moose HBRS XVII, pp. 365-370
1814, 24 June Departed for Canada, settled in Vaudreuil County, Quebec HBRS XVII, pp. 365-370

Wife: Margaret (d. 31 December 1813). [In DCB and other sources, wife mistakenly given as Meenish, wife of his son John] (SF "Thomas, John Sr.") 
Children: John Jr. (HBC 1797-1816, died 3 June 1816 at Moose Factory), wife Meenish (by 1824 m. Richard Stevens) 

Charles (HBC 1808-1832)
Charlotte (2 June 1788-17 May 1843) m (1) J. G. McTavish 1803 (HBC) (E. Mitchell, Fort Timiscaming, p.70, 74)

m (2) Peter Spence (ca. 1777-1855) (HBC) on 8 Nov. 1819 
Children:  John, Isabella, Ann (bapt. l5 March 1819); others on Peter Spence biog. 

Eleanor (b. 22 November 1780) m. (l) William Richards; children: William bapt. 1808, James bapt. 1811 (SF "Richards, William")
also  m. (1) Thomas Thomas; children: Henry and Richard (Will, SF, Thomas, John Sr.)
m. (2) Peter Foy

Margaret (in London, returned home 1792, C.1/394, later back to England) 
Frances m. Andrew Stewart (HBC) 
Ann  m. Alexander Christie (HBC) 
Elizabeth  m. (l) Richard Story Robins, Son: Richard Story Robins (married Hannah Schneider) 

m. (2) James Russell
Henry (a minor) (HBC A.32/3 fo. 156) 

Children who died (probably children, but some may be grandchildren): Edward Thomas (5 Feb. 1801-25 July 1802); Mary Thomas (23 July 1791-24 Oct. 1802); Richard Edward Thomas 
(13 Feb. 1803-16 Dec. 1803); Jane Thomas (29 Oct. 1804-1 Sept. 1806)  

When they left Moose in 1814, the group consisted of John Thomas Senior, Charles, wife and child, Peter Spence, wife and three children, Thomas Knight, John Knight, Mary Knight, Henry 
Thomas, son of John Thomas, 3 Grandchildren of John Thomas, viz. Henry Thomas, Richard Thomas, and Richard Robins, Mrs. McNab and a son of Mr. Vincent, Chief at 
Albany (B.135/a/104) 

Mentioned in Will 1822: son Charles; daughter Charlotte, wife of Peter Spence and their son John; daughter Eleanor, wife of Peter Foy; grandchildren Henry and Richard Thomas, sons of 
Eleanor by her first marriage to Thomas Thomas; daughter Margaret, spinster, in London; daughter Frances, wife of Andrew Stewart; daughter Ann, wife of Alexander Christie; 
daughter Elizabeth, wife of James Russell and her son Richard Story Robins by a previous marriage; son Henry, a minor living with James Russell (copy of will in Search File) 

(See next page) 

ARCHIVES
WINNIPEG

ALG-40224

HBC Biographical Sheet of John Thomas Sr Hudson’s Bay Company Biographical Sheet for John Thomas Sr 2016; PAM, HBCA, Thomas, John Sr 
https://www.gov.mb.ca/chc/archives/_docs/hbca/biographical/t/thomas_john-sr.pdf 



Publications: 
Harry A. Spence, Four Families (PP 2855) 
Jennifer Brown, "A Colony of Very Useful Hands", The Beaver, Sp. 1977, pp. 39-45
Hudson’s Bay Record Society (HBRS) Vol. XVII
Dictionary of Canadian Biography (DCB), Vol. VI 

Search File: "Thomas, John Senior" (includes extracts from records that relate to biography in HBRS vol. XVII cited above) 

Filename: Thomas, John Sr. (1751-1822) (fl. 1769-1814)  JB/nt August 25, 1989; rev. August 1992; rev. May 2009; SB rev. Nov. 2016 ARCHIVES
WINNIPEG

ALG-40224

HBC Biographical Sheet of John Thomas Sr Hudson’s Bay Company Biographical Sheet for John Thomas Sr 2016; PAM, HBCA, Thomas, John Sr 
https://www.gov.mb.ca/chc/archives/_docs/hbca/biographical/t/thomas_john-sr.pdf 



NAME: THOMAS, Charles PARISH: Hudson's Bay  ENTERED SERVICE: 1808 DATES:  b. 9 Sept. 1793   

Appointments & Service 
Outfit Year* Position Post District HBCA Reference 
*An Outfit year ran from 1 June to 31 May

1808-1810 Writer Moose B.135/d/82, fo. 79; B.135/d/85, p. 152
1810-1812 Assistant New Brunswick Moose B.135/d/86, 87, 90

(spring trip to Kenogumisee) 
1812-1813 Clerk New Brunswick Moose B.135/d/94
1814, 22 June left service A.16/16, fo. 136; A.30/11-14; B.135/d/99
1815-1817 Athabasca A.16/54, fo. 87; Rich, E.E., ed.Simpson's

Athabasca Journal
1817-1818 Cumberland House Cumberland A.16/54, fo. 87
1818-1819 Peace River A.16/54, fo. 87
1819-1820 Clerk Colville Athabasca A.16/54, fo. 87; B.239/d/210
1820-1821 Clerk & Trader St. Mary's Peace River A.16/54, fo. 87; B.239/d/210;

Rich, E.E., ed., Simpson's Athabasca Journal
1821-1822 Athabasca B.154/d/17, fo. 8
1822-1823 Montreal Dept. B.154/d/17, fo. 8
1824-1825 Clerk Lake of Two Mountains Montreal Dept. B.134/g/5
1828-1829 Clerk Chats Montreal Dept. B.134/g/6
1829-ca. 1831 Clerk Lake of Two Mountains Montreal Dept. B.134/g/7, 8; Rich, E.E., ed., Simpson's

Athabasca Journal
ca. 1832 retired Rich, E.E., ed., Simpson's Athabasca Journal

+E.E.Rich, ed., Simpson's Athabasca Journal, London: Hudson's Bay Record Society Vol. 1, 1938 (Biography, p. 471, references passim).

ARCHIVES
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Search File: Thomas, Charles (1802-1895) 

Thomas, Charles (1793-1895) (fl.1808-1832) JHB Oct. 1986; rev. August 1992; rev. and reformatted November 1999 CAW; 
rev. April 2009 LF.
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HBC Biographical Sheet of Charles Thomas Hudson’s Bay Company Biographical Sheet for Charles Thomas 2009; PAM, HBCA, Thomas, Charles 
https://www.gov.mb.ca/chc/archives/_docs/hbca/biographical/t/thomas_charles.pdf
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LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-11751; Ancestry.ca 1851 1851 Census of Canada East, Canada West, New Brunswick, and Nova Scotia Canada West (Ontario) > Renfrew County > Wilberforce p. 19



NAME: MANNAL, John PARISH: Kelsale, Suffolk ENTERED SERVICE:   1786 DATES:
(Mannall, Mannel) (after 1797 Stockton, Norfolk) 

Appointments & Service 
Outfit Year* Position Post District HBCA Reference 
*An Outfit year ran from 1 June to 31 May

1786 - 1788 Writer Moose Fort Moose A.30/3, fo. 74d-75; A.30/4, fo. 7d-8
1788 - 1792 Writer Brunswick House Moose A.30/4, fo. 34d-35, 63d-64; A.30/5, fo. 8d-9, 35d-36
1792 - 1794 Writer & Master Frederick House (F.H.) Moose A.30/5, fo. 60d-61
1794 - 1795 Master Frederick House (F.H.) Moose A.16/16, fo. 25d-26; A.30/6, fo. 17d-18, 62d-63
1795 - 1797 Master Kenogamissi Lake (K.L.) Moose A.16/16, fo. 25d-26; A.30/7, fo. 17d-18, 62d-63; A30/8,

fo. 17d-18, 60d-61
1797, 22 September home A.16/16, fo. 25d-26; A.30/8, fo. 60d-61
1798, 23 May back A.16/16, fo. 61d-62
1798 - 1799 Trader, Second Moose A.30/9, fo. 16d-17
1799 - 1803 Inland Master Kenogamissi Lake Moose A.30/10, fo. 16d-17
1803 - 1812 Inland Master & Second Eastmain A.16/13, fo. 102d-103; A.16/16, fo. 61d-62, 100d-101, 152d-153
1812 - 1813 Second Moose A.30/11, fo. 13d-14
1813 - 1814 District Master Moose A.30/12, fo. 9d-10; A.30/13, fo. 14d-15
1814 retired

"52 A Map of the Interior from Moose Fort containing some new discoveries. John Mannal." (HBCA, A.64/45, p. 131) 

Letter from Cordelia Mannall, John's wife, to Hudson's Bay Company, London, dated Beccles, 17 August 1837 (HBCA, A.10/5, fo. 76)
This letter is a request for support from the Company. Mrs. Mannall mentions that her husband served 28 years with the Company 
and left 8 children. Two of Mannall's sons, one 16, the other 13, have taken employment on coasting vessels from Beccles to London.
Mrs. Mannall asks that they be considered for employment with the Company. 

ARCHIVES
WINNIPEG

Filename: Mannal, John (fl. 1786-1814)  April 1987 MGM:wg (Rev. Sept. 1991, JHB) 
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HBC Biographical Sheet of John Mannal Hudson’s Bay Company Biographical Sheet for John Mannal 1991; PAM, HBCA, Mannal, John 
https://www.gov.mb.ca/chc/archives/_docs/hbca/biographical/m/mannal_john.pdf
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The Ottawa Citizen (Ottawa, Ontario, Canada) Sat. Feb 14, 1925
www.newspapers.com/image/456299119
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LAC; Ancestry.ca 1851 Census of Canada East, Canada West, New Brunswick, and Nova Scotia Canada West (Ontario) > Renfrew County > Wilberforce p. 9
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LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-1070; Ancestry.ca 1861 Census of Canada Canada West > Renfrew p. 236
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LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-1070; Ancestry.ca 1861 Census of Canada Canada West > Renfrew p. 112
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LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-1070; Ancestry.ca 1861 Census of Canada Canada West > Renfrew p. 113
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LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-10022; Ancestry.ca 1871 Census of Canada Ontario > Nipissing South > Bonnechére p. 2
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LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-10022; Ancestry.ca 1871 Census of Canada Ontario > Nipissing North > Mattawan West p. 2
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LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-10022; Ancestry.ca 1871 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew North > Algona p. 11
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LAC RG 31-C-1 Reels C-13162 - C-13286; Ancestry.ca 1881 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew North > Wilberforce and North Algona p. 25
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LAC RG 31-C-1 Reels C-13234; Ancestry.ca 1881 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew North > Algona South p. 15
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LAC RG 31-C-1 Reels C-13162 - C-13286; Ancestry.ca 1881 Census of Canada Ontario > Muskoka > Himsworth and Gurd and Pringle and Nipissing p. 16
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AOO MS 935 Reel 69; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Deaths and Deaths Overseas, 1869-1948 Renfrew > 1892 p. 98
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AOO MS 935 Reel 132; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Deaths and Deaths Overseas, 1869-1948 Renfrew > 1907 p. 86
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AOO MS 935 Reel 167; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Deaths and Deaths Overseas, 1869-1948 Parry Sound > 1911 p. 81
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FamilySearch Canada, Lower Canada Census, 1825; Ancestry.ca 1825 Census of Lower Canada York > Vaudreuil p. 1
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LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel T-6366; Ancestry.ca 1891 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew South> Hagarty and Jones p. 7
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Diocese of Pembroke; Ancestry.ca Ontario, Canada, Roman Catholic Baptisms, Marriages, and Burials, 1760-1923 Eganville > Saint James the Less > Baptism, Marriage, Burial; Eganville; 1897-1921 p. 58
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LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-13234; Ancestry.ca 1881 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew South > Hagarty and Jones p. 10
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LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel C-13234; Ancestry.ca 1881 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew South > Hagarty and Jones p. 10
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LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel T-6355; Ancestry.ca 1891 Census of Canada Ontario > Nipissing > Mattawa and Papineau p. 2
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LAC RG 31-C-1 Reels T-6428 - T-6556; Ancestry.ca 1901 Census of Canada Ontario > Nipissing > Papineau p. 8
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LAC RG 31-C-1 Reels T-20326 - T-20460; Ancestry.ca 1911 Census of Canada Ontario > Nipissing > Sub-District 103 - Mattawa p. 18
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LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel T-6366; Ancestry.ca 1891 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew South > Hagarty and Jones p. 9
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LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel T-6365; Ancestry.ca 1891 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew North > Wilberforce North p. 21
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LAC RG 31-C-1 Reek T-6365; Ancestry.ca 1891 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew North > Wilberforce North p. 20
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LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel T-6354; Ancestry.ca 1891 Census of Canada Ontario > Muskoka and Parry Sound > Nipissing and Himsworth South p. 27
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LAC RG 31-C-1 Reels T-6428 - T-6556; Ancestry.ca 1901 Census of Canada Ontario >  Muskoka and Parry Sound > Nipissing p. 13
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LAC RG 31-C-1 Reels T-20326 - T-20460; Ancestry.ca 1911 Census of Canada Ontario > Parry Sound > Sub-District 27 - Nipissing Township, Nipissing Village p. 9
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LAC RG 31-C-1 Reels T-6428 - T-6556; Ancestry.ca 1901 Census of Canada Ontario >  Renfrew (North/Nord) > Wilberforce and Algona (North/Nord) p. 49
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LAC RG 31-C-1 Reels T-6428 - T-6556; Ancestry.ca 1901 Census of Canada Ontario >  Renfrew (North/Nord) > Wilberforce and Algona (North/Nord) p. 50



ALG-40266

LAC RG 31-C-1 Reel T-6365; Ancestry.ca 1891 Census of Canada Ontario > Renfrew North > Wilberforce North p. 24
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The chiefs and officers of the Algonquin and Nipissing nations greet you, my father, and venture 
to set forth humbly their misfortunes; they are worthy of pity. They already submitted several 
moons ago in a petition – that they are without land to provide for the subsistence of their 
families. You told them: “My children, wait, I will convey your words to our common father 
beyond the great Lake, who will consider them, and will command me to grant you what you are 
asking from me”. What have you done for us, my father, since then? Nothing, at least to our 
knowledge, to grant what we asked you for then, except to tell us to hunt or live on the islands 
in the Ottawa. We went there and we found these islands occupied by other people with [better 
title] according to what they told us, and who chased us away saying: “Leave, you have no right 
here, we forbid you to hunt and fish. If your father had granted you some rights, he would have 
granted them to you in writing” [emphasis added]. And so, my father, these same persons, who 
were not afraid to scorn your word, feared even less chasing us off the land given to us by Lord 
Dorchester, which was little enough compensation compared to what we were entitled to 
expect from our good king. 

My father, you want your children to love you, to be loyal to you, to follow you and to help you 
when you need help. Have they not done this? Look back and read the history of the last war. 
Who went first to the border and faced the enemy? Was it we, tour children, or those whom 
you have shown most favour? It was we the Algonquins and Nipissings who defended this land 
that we are asking you for today, that over which you govern. Other nations have done 
practically nothing, some were traitors to our father and they have been generously rewarded 
with lands. But for us, what have you done? Promise only. Perhaps, my father, some evil birds 
have advised you to do otherwise m have told you to grant nothing to the Algonquins and 
Nipissings. Alas, my father, know your children better, remember that an evil cloud has never 
darkened their ever-grateful hearts and observe that an Algonquin and Nipissing father gives up 
his portion to share it amongst his children, he carries them in his heart, their misfortunes 
become his own; in this way, he gains the affection of his children, they are loyal to him, they 
share with him their troubles, their sufferings and their joys; and you, my father, you see your 
children dying of hunger, without an inch of land which would provide them with shelter, or 
where they could [rest] their [heads?] weakened by fasting. Rejected everywhere, you forget 
that the bodies of some of their ancestors, or rather their ashes, still attest to these exploits 
which were ever the mark of Braves and Warriors.  

ALG-40271
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Despite your neglect, your children still love you and cherish you; grant them, therefore, what 
they ask, land along the Ottawa or on the rivers that flow into it, that this land may belong to us, 
that we may be free there, we and our children forever to hunt and fish there without anyone 
preventing us from doing so [emphasis added]. We earnestly ask you this, so that we will be 
assured of a place where the bodies of our descendants may rest in peace, and be assured that 
we will not find ourselves in the dire situation where one day we are told [by our descendants] 
…Beloved shades, precious bones of our dear ones, they are sending you and us far away from 
here; rise up and come and live with us in a strange land. Alas. My father, remember that some 
of this land you are living on today and over which you govern today once belonged to us; do 
not refuse us at least a little bit of it on which we may rest in the shade of your paternal 
goodness and your kindness.  
 
By granting us this favour, or at least a reply to our request, you will find us at all times loyal 
children who will cherish you and pray that the precious days of their father may be preserve. 
 
Chefs Algonquins    Chefs Nepisaingue 
 
Pierre Louis Penency    Fill PaPino 
Ignas Meiachkowateh    J. Bt. Kigikomanitou 
Jappatist Kigons     J. Bte. Makwa 
Benjamin Osawakik    Simon KioekGat 
Antoine Ca_inawatik    Ignace Chawinabais 
Joseph K_pat     Bi   Wapichip 
      Francois Otjik 
      Michel Besinoawatch 
      Matois Chabakatch 
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